
P.T.O. 
 

 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov .uk 

Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Tel:  0345 605 3010 

 

  

 

AGENDA 
for a 

MEETING OF THE CABINET 
Tuesday, 16 August 2022 at 2.00 pm  

 Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek, ST13 6HQ 
 

Contact Officer: Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
or Tel: 01538 395613 

 
 

Membership 

Councillors:-  

 P. Roberts 
M. Deaville 
J. Aberley 

K. Flunder 
J. Porter 

S. Scalise 
R. Ward 
M. Worthington 

Leader of the Council (Chair) 
Leisure and Sports (Deputy Leader) 
Customer Services 

Tourism 
Climate Change 

Environment 
Communities 
Finance 

 
 

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise. 
 

1. Apologies  

2. Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated)  

3. Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)  

4. Declarations of Interest, if any  

 1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
2. Other Interests 

5. Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any  

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 

scanning the code below: 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

A G E N D A  (Continued) 
 

 

6. Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with 
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any  

7. Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any  

8. Leader  

8 .1 Forward Plan (Pages 3 - 4) 

9. Environment  

9 .1 SMDC Refreshed Environment Enforcement Policy (Pages 5 - 28) 

10. Finance  

10 .1 Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2021/22 
(Pages 29 - 76) 

 



1 
 

 

CABINET FORWARD PLAN  
 

August - October 2022 
 
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take shortly. 
Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key Decisions.’  The Plan is updated and 
published 28 days before each meeting of the Cabinet and is available, together with all 
public reports referred to, from our website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk and offices, 
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Should 
you have any questions regarding these documents please contact the Council’s 
Democratic Services Team via our website . 
 
A key decision is one defined as: 
 

"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard 
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates." 

 
 OR 
 

"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more District Wards." 

 
Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be available 
five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the Council’s website 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk.  They are also available from our offices – Moorlands 
House, Stockwell Street, Leek Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents 
relevant to decisions to be taken may be submitted to the decision maker. 
 
Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public.  However, occasionally, some meetings, or 
part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content of the reports to be 
discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal information).  This document 
indicates which reports and dates of meetings where this will apply and the reason for 
this.  
 
Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further notice of 
its intention to hold a meeting in private.  This will again state why this is necessary and 
give the details of any representations received about why the meeting should be open 
to the public.  This will also include a statement of the Council’s response to any such 
representations. 

 

 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 8.1

http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/
http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/


2 
 

Matter for 
decision 

Key 
decision to 
be made on 

behalf of 
the Council 

Decision 
maker 

Expected 
issue date by 

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Relevant 
Overview & 

Scrutiny 
Panel 

 

Documents 
submitted to the 

decision taker for 
consideration 

 

Public/Private 
Report 

First Quarter 
Financial, 

Procurement and 
Performance 
Review 2022/23 

No The Cabinet 16 August 2022 Cllr Worthington Resources Report of the Executive 
Director – Finance and 

Customer Service 

Public 

Refreshed 

Environment 
Enforcement Policy 

Yes The Cabinet 16 August 2022 Cllr Scalise Community Report of the Executive 

Director - Place 

Public 

Combined action 
plan for delivery of 

the Access to 
Services, Digital 
and Organisational 

Development 
Strategies 

Yes The Cabinet 4 October 2022 Cllrs Roberts and 
Cllr Aberley 

Resources Report of the Chief 
Executive 

Public 

Consultation and 
Engagement Policy 

Yes The Cabinet 4 October 2022 Cllr Ward Resources Report of the Executive 
Director - Governance 

and Commissioning 

Public 

 
 
 

 

 

P
age 4



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

16 August 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

SMDC Refreshed Environment Enforcement 
Policy 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Sav Scalise - Portfolio Holder for 
Environment 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
David Smith - Head of Communities and 

Climate Change 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
(All Wards); 

 
 
Appendices Attached - Appendix A – Revised Corporate Enforcement Policy; 
Appendix B - Revised Environmental Enforcement Policy 

 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 The report presents an updated Corporate Enforcement Policy which sets out 
the Council’s general approach to enforcement. It also presents a revised 

policy on enforcing environmental crimes. 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Cabinet approves the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy at 

Appendix A. 
 
2.1 That the Cabinet approves the revised Policy on Enforcement of 

Environmental Crimes provided at Appendix B. 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 The Council engages in regulatory enforcement when delivering certain 
functions including environmental health, environmental crime, licensing, 
development control, housing and finance.  

 
3.2 The Council’s Corporate Enforcement Policy is intended to be an over-arching 

document which can be supplemented by enforcement policies specific to 
each area of the Council’s enforcement activity.  

 

3.3 As a whole, the Council’s enforcement policies are a guide for businesses and 
individuals who may be subject to regulation. The documents set out what 

Page 5

Agenda Item 9.1



  

they can expect from the Council’s regulatory services, as well as providing 
the public with a statement of the Council’s intent on enforcement. To this end 
the policies, once approved, will be publicised on the Council’s website and 

elsewhere as appropriate. 
 

3.4 The Council has reviewed and updated its Corporate Enforcement Policy, to 
reflect revised regulatory guidance, and a copy can be found at Appendix A.  
 

3.5 The Council’s Environmental Enforcement Policy was adopted in 2017. The 
Corporate Plan 2019-2023 committed to reviewing the policy as a means of 

taking steps to further reduce dog fouling and littering. 
 
3.6 The revised Alliance wide policy, which can be found at Appendix B, confirms 

the Council’s triple-track approach to responding to environmental crimes that 
consists of Education, Enforcement and Cleansing. The policy recognises the 

Council’s changed operating model following the creation of Alliance 
Environmental Services (AES) and the role of Council services in delivering 
the policy following internal restructuring. 

 

4. How this report links to Corporate Aims:  

 

4.1 This report supports the Corporate aims of: 

 supporting communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner 

Staffordshire Moorlands.  

 a responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward-thinking 

Council. 

 protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth. 

 protect and improve the environment.  

 

4.2 It also fulfils the commitment within the corporate plan to review the Council’s 

Policy on Enforcement of Environmental Crimes to take steps to further reduce 

dog fouling and littering. 

 

5. Options and Analysis 

 

5.1 There are no options to consider in this report because to be an effective 

regulator the Council needs to have a robust enforcement policies in place. 

 

 

 

Page 6



  

 

6. Implications 

 

6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

Section 17 of The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires Local 

Authorities to exercise their functions with due regard to the likely 

effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to 

prevent, crime and disorder. The Enforcement Policy will support 

those statutory requirements.   

 

6.2 Workforce 

There are no significant impacts on the workforce.  

 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 

An impact assessment has been completed.   

 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

None  

    

6.5 Legal 

The polices presented in this report are consistent with the 

Regulators’ Code 2014, which was published pursuant to Section 

23 of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. The policies 

will support consistent decision taking in enforcement action in the 

interests of certainty for those affected by such action.   

  

6.6 Sustainability 

The Council’s enforcement policies will be used to protect from 

harm and preserve the environment in the District, supporting the 

Council’s climate change ambitions. 

 

6.7 

 

Consultation 

The service areas with regulatory functions have been consulted 

Page 7



  

ahead of drafting this report.  

 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

None  

 

Mark Trillo 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Governance & Commissioning) 

 

Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

The Regulators Code 

2014  

Weblink  Paul Rushworth  

paul.rushworth@highpeak.gov.uk 

David Smith 

david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 

 

7 Detail 

 

7.1 The principle legislative Act regarding enforcement by the Council is the 

Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 which endeavours to ensure 

that local authority regulatory enforcement is carried out in a way which is 

transparent, proportionate, consistent and targeted only at cases in which 

action is needed. The Council’s policies are periodically reviewed to take into 

account legislative changes and to ensure the policies are aligned with the 

Council’s corporate objectives and evolving service delivery models.    

 

7.2 The revised policy on enforcing environmental crimes confirms the Council’s 

triple-track approach to responding to such crimes that consists of Education, 

Enforcement and Cleansing. It emphasises the importance of targeted action 

by Council Officers, and the importance of targeting activity in those areas that 

are experiencing the greatest problems. The revised policy recognises the 

Council’s changed operating model following the creation of Alliance 

Environmental Services (AES) and the role of Council services in delivering 

the policy following internal restructuring across both Alliance Councils. 

 

Page 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code


  

7.3 The Council’s other service areas with enforcement activity will revise their 

service specific policies to ensure they are consistent with the overarching 

themes in the policies attached to this report. 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

 

Corporate Enforcement Policy 

 

1 Introduction  

 

The Council carries out a range of different enforcement activity with the aim of making 

sure that: 

 

 compliance with those laws that fall within the Authority’s remit is promoted 

and encouraged; 

 law abiding businesses, individuals and others are not disadvantaged. 

 the risks and harm to the community are reduced by dealing effectively with 

breaches of the law; and  

 offenders are held to account where appropriate. 

 

This policy sets out the Council’s general approach to enforcement. It is not intended to 

provide procedures for any particular action that may be contemplated or taking place. 

The Council may produce more specific policies on certain areas or aspects of 

enforcement and this policy should be read in conjunction with any such guidance. 

 

The protocol has been drawn up with regard to the Regulators’ Code (published by the 

Department for Business Innovation & Skills) that came into statutory effect on 6 April 

2014; the earlier Regulators’ Compliance Code (2008) and Enforcement Concordat 

(1998), the Code for Crown Prosecutors and other enabling legislation and guidance.  

 

The enforcement policy reflects the principles of the Council's Corporate Aims: 

 supporting communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner Staffordshire 

Moorlands.  

 a responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward-thinking Council. 

 protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth. 

Page 11



 2 

 protect and improve the environment.  

 

2 The Principles of Enforcement 

 

The Council believes in firm but fair enforcement of the law. It will apply the following 

principles when engaging in enforcement activity: 

 

 Openness. We will be open about how we work and about the rules that we 

apply. We will discuss compliance failures or problems with anyone experiencing 

difficulties. We will seek to establish mechanisms to engage with those that we 

regulate, residents and others and allow them to contribute to the development of 

our policies and service standards. Before changing policies, practices or service 

standards, we will consider the impact on any affected groups and engage with 

those groups where possible and appropriate. 

 

 Avoid unnecessary regulatory burdens.
 

We will seek to carry out our activities 

in a way that supports those that we regulate to comply and grow. We will take 

steps to understand and minimise negative economic impacts of enforcement 

activity, minimise the costs of compliance, and encourage and promote 

compliance.  

 

 Consistency. Whilst officers are expected to exercise judgement in individual 

cases, we will strive to carry out our duties in a fair, equitable and consistent 

manner. 

 

 Helpfulness. We believe that prevention is better than cure and our role involves 

working with businesses, individuals and others to advise on, and assist with, 

compliance where possible.  We will seek to provide advice and guidance to help 

people understand and meet their responsibilities. We will consider providing an 

opportunity for discussion before taking formal enforcement action; although there 

may be times when immediate enforcement action is required to prevent or 

Page 12



 3 

respond to a serious breach or where providing such an opportunity would be 

likely to defeat the purpose of the proposed enforcement action. 

 

 Clarity. We will clearly explain what the non-compliant activity, item, behaviour, 

etc is; the advice being given; actions required, or decisions taken; and the 

reasons for these. Where appropriate, we will clearly explain the potential 

consequences of failing to comply with the law. We will distinguish wherever 

necessary between legal requirements (“must do”) and good practice advice 

(“should do”).  

 

 Targeted activity based on risk. The Council will take an evidence based 

approach to determining the priority risks and allocate resources where they would 

be most effective in addressing those priority risks. The Council will prioritise those 

persons or activities that give rise to the most serious risks or where hazards are 

least well controlled. it will focus on those who are responsible for the breach of 

legislation and those who are best placed to control or prevent it. Poorly managed 

businesses or other areas of high risk are likely to receive more frequent 

inspections so that the Council can give public assurance that such risks are 

properly controlled. 

 

 Proportionality. Any enforcement action will be proportionate to the risks to 

health, safety and wellbeing, or to the seriousness of any breach, which includes 

any actual or potential harm arising from the breach. We will take account of how 

far an offender has fallen short of what the law requires and any steps that have 

been taken to prevent or remedy the breach. 

 

 Partnership approach. The Council will seek to provide a joined-up approach to 

enforcement by taking account of the complaints received, and actions taken, by 

our partners and other Council services. Where the law allows, we will share 

information with others to help target resources and minimise duplication. 

 

Page 13



 4 

 

3 Relevant Factors 

 

Decisions on enforcement action are largely discretionary, involving judgements by the 

officer in charge of the case. Officers will consider a range of factors when considering 

action including:  

 

Factors relating to the offence committed: 

 

 Seriousness of the offence, especially involving risk to the public. 

 The age of the offence and, particularly, whether it falls outside any limits on taking 

legal action. 

 Whether the offence is likely to be continued or repeated. 

 Whether the offence has come to light as the result of a complaint or information 

from an outside body. 

 Whether there has been a blatant disregard of legislation. 

 Whether previous action has been unable to resolve the problem. 

 Whether the offence undermines the Council’s Corporate aims and objectives 

including the protection and improvement of the environment (for example fly 

tipping and dog fouling).  

 

Factors relating to the victim: 

 

 The impact on the safety, quality of life, etc of the people affected. 

 Whether the victim was a staff member (the Authority will not tolerate abuse, 

violence, etc directed at staff members and will normally prosecute in such 

circumstances). 

 The views of the aggrieved person/people. 

 Impact on the wider community. 

 

Factors relating to the offender: 

Page 14



 5 

 

 The circumstances, state of mind and attitude of the offender. 

 Whether the offender has taken any action to resolve the problem.  

 Whether there has been an element of fraud, negligence or recklessness in the 

commission of the offence.  

 Past conduct and previous history of the offender including previous similar 

convictions or cautions.  

 

Legal considerations: 

 

 Alternative remedies.  

 The likely penalty as opposed to the cost of investigation. 

 The effect of likely defences and mitigation.  

 Whether a prosecution could test an important legal point or set a precedent. 

 Whether it would be in the public interest, having regard to all the circumstances of 

the case, to institute legal proceedings. 

 

Officers should be mindful of the principles set out in this protocol when taking any 

action and the relevant factors outlined above. Any deviation from this approach should 

only take place where an officer believes that a specific provision is not applicable or is 

outweighed by another relevant consideration. Such decisions should be made on the 

basis of material evidence and officers should clearly record the reasons for the 

decision. 

 

4 Enforcement Options 

 

Where there has been an alleged breach of legislation, there are several alternatives for 

action depending on the nature, seriousness and public interest of the alleged 

infringement. The possible courses of action include (not all actions are available to all 

areas of enforcement):  

 

Page 15



 6 

 providing oral and written information and advice (which may include warnings that 

in the opinion of the Council there is a failure to comply with the law and setting out 

the potential consequences of such activity/behaviour); 

 seeking improvements or cessation of activity; 

 taking immediate or subsequent direct action to remedy the breach; 

 prohibiting activities or withdrawing approval of their continuance; 

 varying conditions or exemptions in licences;  

 issuing fixed penalty notices; 

 formal cautions. A caution will only be issued if there is sufficient evidence of guilt, 

the offender is over eighteen years old, the offender admits the offence, and 

consents to the caution. 

 immediate or direct action. 

 prosecution thought the courts if there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic 

prospect of conviction and the Authority decides that prosecution would be in the 

public interest; and 

 injunctions and other civil sanctions. 

 

Council employees carry out important functions on behalf of local communities and 

often in difficult circumstances. The Council recognises that it has a duty to protect its 

staff members and therefore wants to send a clear message that any physical or verbal 

assaults on Council officers whilst carrying out their duties will not be tolerated. The 

Council will generally seek to prosecute anyone assaulting or otherwise abusing its 

workforce by either liaising with the local police or by taking a private prosecution. 

 

5 Appointment, Training and Development of Officers 

 

All officers will undergo a rigorous recruitment and selection process prior to 

appointment to make sure that they are able to meet the Council’s expectations in terms 

of professionalism, discretion, impartiality, balanced decision-making, etc. 

 

Page 16



 7 

Appropriate training will be provided to officers to ensure that they have the skills and 

knowledge to perform their role competently. 

The performance of officers will be monitored and steps will be taken to address any 

deviation from expected standards. 

 

6 Shared Regulatory Roles 

 

The Council recognises that problems experienced by members of the community may 

be complex and require the input of several sections of the Council to resolve. The 

Council will seek to provide a joined-up response wherever possible. This means that 

the local authority will: 

 

 Identify a single point of contact, so that members of the public do not have to 

speak to multiple Council officers about their problem; 

 Check with other Council services to see if they have had any involvement with the 

reported issue; 

 Seek to use the full range of powers available to the Authority to resolve problems. 

 

7 Role of Councillors 

 

Councillors play an important role in supporting enforcement activity by the local 

authority, such as by: 

 

 Developing the Authority’s enforcement policies and reviewing their 

implementation; 

 Serving on regulatory committees, such as those covering planning and licensing 

functions; 

 Responding to constituents’ concerns about enforcement action including cases 

where the Authority decides not to take action; and 

 Encouraging members of the public to report breaches of the law where 

appropriate. 

Page 17



 8 

 

8 Reporting problems 

 

The trigger for enforcement action will often be the receipt of a complaint from a 

member of the public about a problem that is affecting them. We encourage people to 

report problems and they can do so by completing one of the “Do it online” forms on the 

Council’s website, by calling 0345 605 3010 or 01538 395400, or by writing Moorlands 

House, Leek, ST13 6HQ  

 

Complainants will be asked to give their full contact details and to describe in detail the 

nature of the problem. Where the Council can lawfully refuse to disclose information, 

details will not be made known to anyone other than those professional officers dealing 

with the case. Complainant’s details are confidential and, as personal information under 

the General Data Protection Regulation and the Data Protection Act 2018, are exempt 

from release under Section 40 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 

We will acknowledge your enquiry within 5 working days of receiving the complaint. Our 

officers will then carry out an initial investigation of the problem. We will keep you aware 

of the progress of our investigations and, where applicable, any subsequent 

enforcement action. 

 

9 Complaints process 

 

Many of the pieces of legislation under which the Council enforces contain procedures 

for appeal against enforcement decisions to independent bodies such as the Planning 

Inspectorate and Magistrates’ Court. Any such appeal mechanisms will be 

communicated at the time of enforcement action.  

 

Anyone wishing to complain about the Council’s services or officers can do so by 

contacting the Council’s Complaints Officer. This can be done by completing our on-line 

Page 18



 9 

complaints form at www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or by writing to the Complaints Officer 

at Moorlands House, Leek, ST13 6HQ.   

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy on Enforcement of Environmental Crimes 

 

1 Introduction 

This policy has been produced to support the Councils’ commitment to protect and 

improve the environment. The Councils believe that: 

 Tackling environmental crimes is a priority for local communities in both local 

authority area.  

 Environmental crimes are unsightly and make our towns, villages and other 

areas less attractive for residents and visitors alike. 

 Environmental crimes can result in negative perceptions of an area and make it 

feel unsafe and uncared for. 

 Maintaining clean neighbourhoods benefits the local economy by improving the 

image of the area and thereby attracting more visitors and customers, 

encouraging investment in local businesses, increasing house prices and 

assisting businesses to retain employees. 

 The cost to residents of clearing up after environmental crime is considerable. 

 Waste can take years to degrade and can be costly to remove. It can be 

harmful to health and, for example, lead to cuts, puncture wounds and 

subsequent infections for children and others that come into contact with it. 

Waste can harm wildlife and habitats, and can attract pigeons and vermin such 

as rats. 

The Councils operate a triple-track approach to responding to environmental crimes 

involving:  

• Education - educating the public, such as through signage, use of warnings, 

action days and publicity campaigns; 

• Enforcement – environmental crimes are illegal, which means that 

enforcement action will be pursued where necessary and appropriate; and 

• Cleansing – Alliance Environmental Services (AES) carry out a routine 

programme of cleansing adopted highways and other public spaces, such as 

parks and play areas on behalf. This is supplemented by responsive action to 

Page 21



reported problems and extra sweeping when needed (for instance in busy 

visitor areas or after major events). 

The purpose of the policy is to set out the Councils’ approaches to enforcement of 

environmental crime. It is intended to ensure that the Councils follow a standard 

approach that is consistent, balanced, fair, transparent, and proportional.  

The policy recognises that each incident of environmental crime is unique and must 

be considered on its own merits but sets out the general principles that will be 

applied by the Councils’ officers.  

This document should be read in conjunction with the Councils’ General Policy 

Statements on Enforcement and any relevant policies relating to individual 

environmental crimes.  

2 What is Environmental Crime? 

Environmental crime is generally used to describe any illegal activity that harms the 

environment1 but there is no universally agreed definition. In the broadest sense, it 

includes waste crime and activities such as wildlife crime, illegal resource extraction, 

and fraud around sustainability and carbon trading permits. In addition to 

environmental impacts, it can also have serious human health and social impacts. 

High Peak Borough Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council have 

adopted a pragmatic approach to defining environmental crime based upon their 

remit and concerns of residents. The Councils define environmental crime as 

encompassing: 

 Abandoning vehicles 

 Accumulations of waste 

 Dog fouling 

 Fly-posting 

 Fly-tipping/depositing waste 

 Graffiti; and 

 Littering 

                                                                 
1
 Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology (2017)  

Page 22



3 The Councils’ Approach to Enforcement 

Experience has shown that enforcement action is most effective where it is targeted 

in the right places at the right times, and carried out by suitably equipped officers 

with the capacity and appropriate training to undertake enforcement activity. The 

Councils recognise that the safety of officers is paramount. 

Environmental Crime Enforcement Officers are allocated with a body-worn video 

camera for use when carrying out patrols and enforcement activity. This will be 

switched on, where possible, as soon as the officers suspect an offence has been 

committed, or is about to be committed, and will be kept on until the interaction has 

ended. For the avoidance of doubt, the lack of a body worn video camera, or failure 

to record on a particular occasion, would not preclude the council from pursuing 

enforcement action if there is sufficient evidence and it is in the public interest to do 

so. The cameras are intended to both assist with evidence gathering but also to 

protect the officer from physical of verbal abuse and can be used in the event of 

complaints against an officer. 

Other Council and AES officers, particularly operational officers working in the 

community, are expected to provide intelligence to enable enforcement activity to be 

effectively targeted. This could include providing evidence of people discarding litter 

from vehicles or notifying the Environmental Enforcement Officers if a suspected 

abandoned vehicle remains in a reported location. 

AES Officers provide the initial response to complaints about waste being deposited 

on relevant land, i.e. land in the open air that is under direct control of the Councils 

and to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access with or without 

payment (this includes highways in agreement with the relevant County Council). 

AES Officers examine the waste for any evidence and, where such evidence exists, 

record the information and pass it on to the relevant Council service.  

Where the complaint does not relate to relevant land and where the Council has a 

statutory duty to investigate, or it is in the public interest and appropriate to do so, 

the deposit of waste will be investigated by the appropriate Council service. 

Where the Council receives a complaint that: 

Page 23



 material accumulated or deposited is prejudicial to health or a nuisance, then 

the Council is required to take reasonable steps to investigate whether the 

complaint amounts to a statutory nuisance and, if satisfied that a statutory 

nuisance exists (or is likely to occur or recur) issue a notice under Section 80 

of the Environmental protection Act 1990; or 

 significant harm (or possibility of such harm) is being caused to land or 

pollution of controlled waters, then the Council must consider whether it 

amounts to contamination of land under Part IIA of the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990. 

Where the above does not apply, the deposit, treatment or disposal of waste will be 

investigated under the appropriate legislation such as: 

 a potential “fly-tip” under Sections 33 and 34 of the Environmental Protection 

Act 1990;  

 littering under Section 87 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; 

 “unreasonable conduct” under Section 42 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime 

and Policing Act 2014 (Community Protection Notices), where the conduct of 

an individual body that is having a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 

those in the locality; or 

 as an “untidy site” under Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, where the condition of land in the Councils’ area adversely affects the 

amenity of part of the Council’s area, or of an adjoining area. 

Targeting Activity 

It is important that enforcement activity is targeted in those areas where 

environmental crimes are occurring. The Council keeps records of problems reported 

by members of the public and these can be analysed to produce maps of problem 

areas. Information about ‘hot spot’ areas can also be provided by councillors and 

frontline council workers. 

Response 

Officers will normally issue a fixed penalty notice where an offence of abandoning a 

vehicle, littering, fly-tipping, fly-posting or dog fouling has occurred. The Council may 

also seek to recover the cost of removal. This reflects the zero-tolerance approach 

being taken by each Council to tackle environmental crimes. The FPN is issued as 

Page 24



an alternative to prosecution. If an FPN is issued then the offender has 14 days to 

discharge their full liability for the offence by paying the FPN. The Council will 

normally seek to prosecute if someone fails to pay the FPN within the specified 

timescale. 

Where the defacement of an area by waste is detrimental to the amenity of the 

locality, but not a statutory nuisance, then this would normally be dealt with through a 

Community Protection Notice, or under Section 215 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as appropriate. This includes areas where there is recurrent 

defacement by litter of open land in the vicinity of commercial or retail premises. A 

breach of a Community Protection Notice may result in either a fixed penalty notice 

being issued or prosecution. Failure to comply with a Section 215 Notice is an 

offence and would be dealt with by means of a prosecution. 

If a person fails to comply with a Community Protection Notice then the authority also 

has the power to apply to court for seizure or forfeiture of items used in commission 

of the offence. 

There are several situations when the Council would consider that the issuing of a 

fixed penalty notice may not be appropriate and instead would seek to prosecute 

under the relevant legislation. This includes: 

• Large-scale depositing of waste items, which will normally be dealt with by 

means of prosecution for littering (Section 87 Environmental Protection Act 

1990), fly-tipping (Section 33 Environmental Protection Act) or failure to keep 

proper control of controlled waste (Section 34); 

• Statutory nuisances- where the condition or activity is prejudicial to health or a 

nuisance (Section 79 of the Environmental Health Act 1990); 

• When the offence is committed by someone that has previously received a 

fixed penalty notice for the same offence; and 

• Where the offender is aggressive to the Enforcement Officer (or other staff 

member) and/or refuses to provide their name and address.  

Payment by instalments 

Page 25



The option to pay in instalments will be offered if requested by the alleged offender 

and provided that they can adequately demonstrate to the authority that one or more 

of the following criteria applies: 

 A fixed penalty notice has been issued to a young person (aged under 18); 

 The alleged offender is on benefits; and 

 There is a proven case of financial hardship. 

The Councils must commence prosecution for a summary offence within six months 

from the date of occurrence. Instalment payments will thus be spread over a 

maximum of three months to retain the option of prosecuting for the offence if the 

alleged offender fails to pay all instalments. 

If the offender pays the initial instalment but then fails to pay one or more of the 

subsequent instalments, then the local authority would normally seek to prosecute 

the individual for the original offence. 

Young People 

The Councils recognise that all sections of society can be responsible for littering 

and that the age of criminal responsibility in England is 10. The Councils also 

recognise that littering can be a particular problem around schools and along routes 

to school premises. 

If the Councils intend to carry out targeted enforcement activity close to a school in 

response to reported problems, then they will endeavour to undertake an education 

initiative at the school prior to enforcement patrols taking place. The Councils, 

however, recognise that there may be occasions where an enforcement officer 

observes a young person aged 17 or under littering during their normal duties and 

not as part of targeted action. 

The Councils think that it is important that officers respond to littering by young 

people and send out the message that littering is unacceptable and will not be 

tolerated. If the Council does not take action in such circumstances, then it may be 

seen to be: i) giving out the wrong message and suggesting that the law does not 

apply to young people, and ii) not adequately responding to public concern about 

littering. Officers will, therefore, issue fixed penalty fines to anyone aged 11 or over 

Page 26



(corresponding to secondary school age) who is found to commit an offence or 

prosecute as described above. 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 
Cabinet 

 
16 August 2022 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Appendices Attached 

 Appendix A (2021/22 – Fourth Quarter (Financial Report) 

 Appendix B (2021/22 – Fourth Quarter (Procurement Report)  

 Appendix C (2021/22 – Fourth Quarter (Performance Report) 
 

 
1. Reason for the Report  

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st March (“Fourth 
Quarter 2021/22”); and 

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet:  
 

 Note the Fourth Quarter 2021/22 financial, procurement and performance 

position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 
covering report; and 

 Recommend for approval the allocation of the surplus on the General Fund 

Revenue Account to reserves as explained in Appendix A (paragraph 
2.11) 

 Recommend for approval the proposal to carry forward unspent revenue 
budget as described in Appendix A (Paragraph 2.13) 

 Recommend for approval the proposals to carry forward unspent capital 
budget as set out in Appendix A (Paragraph 5.6) 
 

 
 

 

TITLE: Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and 
Performance Review 2021/22 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER Cllr Mike Worthington - Portfolio holder for 

Finance  
  
CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Head of Finance 

Vanessa Higgins – Information Business 
Partner  

   
WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 29

Agenda Item 10.1



 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 This report essentially summarises the Council’s financial, procurement and 

performance position after considering service activity up to the end of the 
Fourth Quarter (i.e. 31st March 2022).  
 

3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 
(Procurement) and Appendix C (Performance).  

 
3.3 The position can be summarised as follows: 
 

Subject Headline Reference 

Finance The Finance headlines for the Fourth Quarter are: 

Performance against Budget 

 At the Fourth Quarter stage the General Fund projected outturn for 
2021/22 is an underspend of £2,448,213. 

Efficiency Programme 

 At Quarter Four £696,520 in savings have been taken against the 
2021/22 general fund efficiency target of £830,430 - a shortfall of 
£133,910 in the year. 

Capital Programme 

 The revised Capital Programme budget for 2021/22 is £13.96 million 
including the carry forward of capital underspends from 2020/21.  
The provisional outturn for the year is £13.05million; an underspend 
of £0.91million.   

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 31 March 2022 totalled £27.3 million. 

 Council borrowing at 31 March 2022 totals £12.6 million  

 The Council’s net interest income receipts for the year exceeded the  
budget by £4,002 in the year. 

Revenue Collection 

 98.46% of Council Tax was collected by 31 March 2022 compared to 
98.17% for the same period last year.  

 99.01% of Business Rates was collected by 31 March 2022 
compared to 97.35% for the same period last year) 

 At the end of the Fourth Quarter debt that was over 60 days old was 
£15,962 which compares with £65,090 at 31 March 2021.  

 

Appendix A 

Page 30



Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Fourth Quarter are: 

 12 procurement activities were completed  

 The Procurement forward plan included 41 procurement activities for 
completion in 2021/22 (either SMDC only or joint) 

 At the 31 March 2022, 52% of procurement activity undertaken was 
on the forward plan. 
 

Appendix B  

Performance The Performance headlines for the Fourth Quarter are: 

 68% of the key performance indicators met  

 The Council received 61 complaints, 200 comments and 42 
compliments 

 Priority Actions - 12 green, 7 amber, 16 grey 
 

Appendix C 

 

 
 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 

effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the 
subject of this report. 

 
5.       Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 Detailed Analysis is contained within the main body of the Report. 
 

6. Implications 
 

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
None. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
None. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 
and Diversity policies. 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report. 
 

6.5 Legal 
None. 

 
16.6 Climate Change 

None. 

 
6.7   External Consultation 

  None. 
 

Page 31



6.8           Risk A    Risk  Assessment 
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 

identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A. 
 

 
 

MARTIN OWEN 

Executive Director Finance and Customer Services 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

 

Report appendices A-C 

 

Moorlands House 

 

Keith Pointon 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 
Vanessa Higgins  

01538 395400 Ext. 4195 

 

Page 32



 
 

APPENDIX A 

 

 
 

2021/22 
 

Fourth Quarter 
(Provisional Outturn) 

 Financial  
Review 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



1.      Background and Introduction 

 

1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and 
recommended good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to 

members. This is the fourth and final report for 2021/22. 
 

1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2021/22 with 

particular emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. 
Specific considerations are as follows: 

 

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 

performance on the General Account by looking at variations in income 

and expenditure and the funding received by the Council.  
 

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 3) – considers 

progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings forecast for 
2021/22.  

 

 Alliance Environmental Services (Section 4) – highlights the 

performance of the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste and 
Fleet services. 

 

 Capital Programme (Section 5) – provides an update to Members on 

progress against the Council’s capital plan  
 

 Treasury Management (Section 6) – sets out the key statistics in terms 

of investments and borrowings; 
 

 Revenue Collection (Section 7) – considers progress-to-date in 

collecting the Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts. 

 

Page 34



2. General Fund Revenue Account 
 

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General 
Fund Revenue Account against budget by setting out variations in income 

and expenditure and funding received by the Council.  
 

 
 

Service (with staff*) 
2021/22 
Budget 

Provisional 
Outturn 
2021/22 

Variance 

Contribution 
to / (Use of) 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

Net 
Variance 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Alliance Leadership Team 432,030 404,440 (27,590) - (27,590) 

Audit 97,810 93,759 (4,051) - (4,051) 

ICT 702,760 726,147 23,387 - 23,387 

Human Resources 52,360 61,278 8,918 - 8,918 

Member Services 474,550 416,855 (57,695) - (57,695) 

Property Services 875,500 933,404 57,904 (22,350) 35,554 

Benefits (144,280) 10,863 155,143 - 155,143 

Planning Applications 233,400 48,109 (185,291) - (185,291) 

Building Control 54,510 49,471 (5,039) - (5,039) 

Customer Services 598,770 530,910 (67,860) - (67,860) 

Legal Services 247,230 244,349 (2,881) - (2,881) 

Electoral Services 97,790 46,267 (51,523) 37,293 (14,230) 

Licensing and Land Charges (210,970) (215,700) (4,730) - (4,730) 

Regeneration 265,800 141,197 (124,603) 125,000 397 

Communities and Cultural 343,560 311,691 (31,869) (5,353) (37,222) 

Housing Strategy 158,100 14,504 (143,596) 138,297 (5,299) 

Transformation 192,640 204,187 11,547 - 11,547 

Community Safety and Enforcement 151,050 123,290 (27,760) - (27,760) 

Finance Income & Procurement 363,670 349,004 (14,666) - (14,666) 

Revenues 184,700 195,641 10,941 - 10,941 

Corporate Finance* 1,534,200 2,140,871 606,671 (919,151) (312,481) 

Waste Collection 2,223,070 1,875,330 (347,740) - (347,740) 

Street Scene 386,930 399,920 12,990 - 12,990 

Leisure Services 462,050 242,758 (219,292) (10,043) (229,335) 

Horticulture 539,400 526,012 (13,388) (3,226) (16,613) 

Environmental Health 449,600 195,588 (254,012) - (254,012) 

            

Net Total of Services 10,766,230 10,070,147 (696,083)   (1,355,617) 

            

Net Interest (319,010) (323,012) (4,002)   (4,002) 

  10,447,220 9,747,135 (700,085) (659,533) (1,359,619) 

Funding       

- external (6,179,940) (7,650,155) (1,470,215)  (1,470,215) 

- reserves contribution to/(from)          

     general contingency (256,080) (256,080) -   - 

     use of carry forward from 20/21 (14,160) (14,160) -  - 

     Earmarked – business rates (3,989,340) (3,615,420) 373,920  373,920 

     Earmarked - general (7,700) (659,533) (651,833) 659,533 7,700 

      

        
Projected (Surplus)/Deficit - (2,448,213) (2,448,213)  (2,448,213) 

          
 

Page 35



* In previous quarters Staff costs were budgeted and recorded in Finance & Procurement.  They were considered a 
corporate resource to be the main source of savings realised by the Authority’s Efficiency and Rationalisation 
Programme, However to show the true use of resources by individual services it is necessary to include the actual staff  
costs incurred.  Therefore the Quarter Four provisional outturn position includes the actual staff costs (and matching 
budgets) at the service level. 

 

 

2.2. A revenue budget of £10,433,060 was set for 2021/22. In accordance with 

Financial Procedure Rules, the roll forward of £14,160 in unused budgets from 
2020/21 has been authorised. 

 

Planning (£5,500): in respect of the development of the Local Plan in 2021/22 
Member Services (£8,660): in respect of Member Initiative funds to be 

applied in 2021/22. 
 This brings the 2021/22 budget to £10,447,220 
 

2.3. The table above shows how this budget has been allocated to services. 
 

2.4. The provisional outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for the year is 
£7,999,007. This represents a projected surplus for the year of £2,448,213.   

 
2.5. There are seven areas of significant underspend (>£50,000): 
 

 Member Services (£57,695 underspend);  Savings across a number of 

budget heads such as policy consultations, civic transport, councillor expenses 

and initiatives. 
 Planning Applications (£185,291 underspend);  Savings of some £50,000 

have accrued against policy and other budget heads.  Application fee income 
has exceeded expectations by some £127,000 following receipt of a number of 
significant development requests. 

 Customer Services (£67,860 underspend);  savings have been generated 

across a number of budget heads owing to the change in working practices 

brought on by Covid-19.  The adoption of IT solutions  for communication 
within and without the council has reduced the demand for stationery, printing 
and postage producing a saving of £45,000 against their cumulative budget.  

 Corporate Finance (£312,481 underspend): The payment by the Council of 

discretionary Covid support grants, to local businesses and residents, and the 

receipt of grant from Government to fund them were recorded as Corporate 
activities in the year.  The net impact of these activities generated a £919,151 
overspend which has been funded out of the earmarked reserve set up in 

2020/21.  The majority of underlying underspend that remains has arisen by a 
combination of internal savings and unbudgeted external contributions.  The 

Authority’s net efficiency and inflation budgets generated a £70,400 saving 
while spend on the wage bill was £85,700 below budget. Corporate Finance 
has also been the recipient of Government funding to support the 

administration costs incurred by the District issuing Covid 19 grants on their 
behalf. The time and effort involved was spread across the Authority’s 

workforce so the credits have been taken at the Corporate level, with £126,590 
received in relation to Business Support Grants and £36,360 in regard to Self-
Isolation.   

Page 36



 Waste Collection (£347,740 underspend); £20,000 of the underspend is as 

result of asset sales being credited to the service.  The remainder arises from a 

rebate of the AES management fee as a result of improved recycling basket of 
goods prices achieved. This more than offsets other budgetary pressures such 

as increased disposal costs. 
 Leisure Services (£229,335 underspend); In anticipation of the contract 

providers requiring continuing support, as a result of the pandemic, substantial 
budget was returned to the service out of the District’s efficiency pool.  The call 
on these funds was significantly lower than the budget available resulting in the 

reported underspend. 
 Environmental Health (£254,012 underspend);  The response to Covid-19 

has significantly impacted the nature and volume of work carried out in this 
service, as it was involved in both Track and Trace and Enforcement.  
However ‘surge’ funding of £112,000 from Central Government and £205,000 

‘contain management’ grant received from Staffordshire County Council has 
left the service with an in-year surplus.   

 

 
2.6. There is one area of significant overspend (>£50,000): 

 
 

 Benefits (£155,143 overspend); The year has seen a significant contribution 

of £140,000 into the Authority’s provision against not receiving back the benefit 

retrospectively judged to have been overpaid to claimants.  The provision is 
calculated on the same basis each year with the annual charge reflecting the 

amount outstanding at the financial year end.  Should repayments in future 
years exceed expectations then that will be reflected in reduced bad debt 
provisions.   

 
    

2.7. The £4,002 underspend on net interest costs is detailed in section 6. 
 

2.8. The level of funding for the year is £1,088,594 above that budgeted due to the 

following: 
 

 External Funding: (£1,470,215) 
 

 Business Rates Retention (£1,406,695 additional funding): 
o The Council is to receive £1,786,337 in additional S31 grants in the year 

due to continuation of Extended Retail and Nursery Discounts to 
respond to the covid-19 situation – at the time of budget setting central 
government had not confirmed these reliefs. Accounting practice dictates 

that these grants are treated as general fund revenue in the year. 
However, the extended reliefs impact the Collection Fund by increasing 

the deficit in the year, which will need to be distributed in future years, 
therefore this additional funding needs to be earmarked to accommodate 
this and cannot be used to support other services. 

- The Council’s share of the business rates collection fund deficit to 
be distributed in 2022/23 is £906,580; this amount of the s31 

funding will be put in to reserves at the end of this year to be 
drawn down in 2022/23 to smooth the effect between years. 

Page 37



o An increase of £322,518 in the net levy payable on growth to the 

Staffordshire Business Rates Pool is currently forecast compared to the 

budgeted amount. This is due to fluctuations in the level of growth 
affected by the provision for appeals. 

Part of the levy payment savings achieved as member of the pool are 
dependent on the performance of the whole pool and can only be 
estimated at year end. The pool has now advised the draft final amount 

due for the previous year (subject to completion of external audits), this 
is £57,124 greater than the accrued amount, which will further offset the 

estimated surplus Business Rates Retention in the current year. 
 

 

Net Movement in Reserves (£270,240 budgeted use of contingency and £277,913 
actual use of earmarked) 

 

 The original budget for 2021/22 assumed a £256,080 use of general fund 
contingency which was increased to £270,240 following approval to use 

£14,160 carried forward from 2020/21. 

 The outturn reported in table 2.1 assumes that the £270,240 use of 

contingency reserves included in the 2021/22 budget was made.   In practice 
however owing to the general fund surplus generated in the year there has 

been an actual contribution to reserves of £2,177,973 (£2,448,213 - £270,240) 
– see Section 2.9 

 The budgeted use of earmarked reserves was £7,700 for service activities and 

£3,989,340 to support the Collection Fund income derived from Business 
Rates. 

 As reported in table 2.1 the actual use of service earmarked reserve at 
£659,533 was £651,833 more than the £7,700 budgeted.  In contrast at 
£3,615,420 the use of earmarked reserves to support business rates income 

was £373,920 less than originally budgeted. Overall resulting in a net £277,913 
use of the Authority’s earmarked reserves during the year. 

 
 

Earmarked 

 

 Property Service £22,350 use: monies drawn from reserve earmarked for 

Climate Change initiatives to cover costs of asset energy audits. 
 

 Electoral Services £37,293 contribution: this is the net contribution into the 
Election Equalisation Reserve earmarked to meet costs of future elections. 

 

 Regeneration £125,000 contribution: An earmarked reserve set up to hold 
Levelling Up grant received from Central Government in 2021/22 to fund the 

District’s bids for further national resources in the current financial year.  
 

 Communities £5,353 use: net use of the Climate Change reserve to support 

activities in the year. 
 

 Housing Strategy £138,297 contribution: Government funding targeted at 
reducing Domestic Abuse to the value of £31,297 has been earmarked for 

Page 38



future application. In addition £125,000 of excess funding received in year has 
been put into reserve to support the District’s Homelessness function. 

 

 Corporate Finance £919,151 use: during 2021/22 the District continued to 

make discretionary grants to local businesses and individuals to support them 
in the face of the on-going pandemic.  A substantial proportion of these 
payments were funded out Government grants received in 2020/21 and 

earmarked for that purpose. 
 

 Leisure Services £10,043 use: £3,961 has been drawn down from the 
Authority’s Future Leisure reserve to fund in-year consultancy costs and 

£6,082 was used from another reserve to support a walking promotion 
initiative.   

 

 Horticulture £3,226 use: this represents the net movement on a  number of 
earmarked reserves that exist to smooth the funding of specific projects and 

activities. 
 

 

General Fund Revenue Reserves       
2.9 The provisional outturn for the year on the General Fund Revenue Account was a 

£2,448,210 surplus. 
 
2.10   The surplus generated is calculated inclusive of the £270,240 contribution into 

general reserves budgeted for in 2021/22.  The Council’s 2021/22 capital programme 
was also part funded out of accumulated contingency reserves to the tune of 

£1,285,450. Therefore, the Authority’s contingency reserves increased overall by 
£892,520 to £4,980,000. 

 

 
2.11  The Authority’s calculated minimum for its contingency reserve is £1,480,000.  A 

review of the Authority’s reserves has been performed to identify areas where 
earmarking for future projects was considered prudent while maintaining a satisfactory 
level for contingency.  As a result the following moves into earmarked reserves are 

proposed; 
 

- £60,000 added to an earmarked reserve to fund the District’s Local 

Development framework 

- £77,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support with the 

costs associated with the Future Leisure Provision project 
 

- £153,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support with the 

delivery of Climate change related projects. 
 

- £250,000 used to create a new reserve earmarked to provide a buffer 
against increasing inflationary pressures. 

 

- £225,000 added to an earmarked reserve set aside to support the digital 
strategy. 

Page 39



 
- £600,000 to create a new Levelling-Up reserve to provide funds to help the 

Council meet any commitments arising from the bidding process. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

2.12 The effect of these changes results in a balance on general fund reserves as at 
31st March 2022 of £3.6million – which is £2.1million above new minimum contingency 
level.  The current Medium Term Financial Plan approved in February 2022 assumed 

a General Fund contingency balance of £5.52m at the end of 2021/22. The Council 
expects to make a net contribution of £5,340 into general contingency reserves over 

the next four years 2022/23 – 2025/26  
 

Carry Forward Request:- 

 
2.13 The following requests for carry forward have been received: 

 
 Planning Policy -  (£14,650): carry forward of unspent budget in respect of the 

production costs of the Supplementary Planning Document. 

 Member Services – (£3,325): carry forward of unspent budget in respect of 

initiatives to increase community engagement 

 Financial Services – (£4,200): carry forward of unspent budget in respect of 

initiatives to manage risk. 

 
 
 

3. Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme 

 

3.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2021/22. 
 

3.2. The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2019) included 
the four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 

targeting savings of £3.14 million.  This was required to balance the forecast 
budget deficit position of £2.7m and also the carry forward of unachieved 
efficiencies from 2016/17 of £0.4m. 
 

3.3. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy is premised on the need to both 

reduce expenditure and increase income. The need to grow income is now more 
of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing. The strategy 
has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline service 

delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the Council to 
ensure that its service spending is determined by the established priorities set out 

in the Corporate Plan. 
 

3.4. The 2021/22 budget was set in February 2021 with the assumption of £448,000 

of savings in the year.  Unachieved efficiencies of £382,400 were brought forward 

Page 40



from 2020/21 in line with the MTFP, making an in-year target for 2021/22 of 
£830,430. A large part of this savings requirement is focussed on the removal of 

surplus budgets no longer needed. 
 

3.5. The major focus of the savings programme in 2021/22 being on growth, income 
generation and major procurements. 
 

3.6. At the end of 2021.22, £696,520 in savings have been taken against the 2021/22 
efficiency target. These relate to the removal of surplus leasing budgets 

(£419,660); removal of underspent budgets within the Environmental services 
(£53,220) and insurance services (£15,000); and savings in the AES contract 
(£145,180). This represents a shortfall in savings of £133,910 which has been 

rolled forward to be realised in 2022/23. 
 

3.7. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the Efficiency 
Strategy, which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering the efficiency 
programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve currently stands at 

£493,000. As in previous years, It has not been necessary to draw on this reserve 
in 2021/22 as the shortfall in planned savings in the year has been made up by 

underspends in other corporate budgets . 
 
 

4. Alliance Environmental Services 

 

4.1. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street cleansing 
and grounds maintenance services to both Staffordshire Moorlands District and 
High Peak Borough Councils. The Councils are shareholders of the company 

along with ANSA, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council.  
 

4.2. AES’s financial performance and impact on this Council’s budget is summarised 
below: 

 
 

2021-22 £ 

    AES Contract budget 4,565,970 

    
Management fee 4,683,331 

Net additional claim/rebate (396,444) 

Allocation of AES efficiency (21,000) 

Covid-19 costs 30,982 

Total management fee payable 4,296,869 

Allocation of Joint Operation profit (30,234) 

Net total 4,266,635 

    
Variance to budget (299,355) 

 
4.3. The AES business plan for all services being delivered to the Council during 

2021/22 includes a budgeted management fee of £4,683,331. The Council’s 
£21,000 share of the total AES forecast efficiency target for 2021/22 is repayable 

Page 41



to the Council at the end of the year and is allocated against the management fee 
costs. 

 

4.4. An additional pressure on the Pay Award compared to the budgeted amount is 

offset by a rebate on recycling contracts income following an improvement on the 
basket of goods rates resulting in a net benefit of £396,444. 

 

4.5. There were additional costs of £30,982 during the year relating to the ongoing 
impact of Covid-19, such as additional cleaning products, PPE and additional 

agency costs. 
 
4.6. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is incorporated in to the 

Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to separate 
group accounts being reported.  The profit is therefore apportioned between the 

two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of original budgeted 
resources from each department. The Council’s share of the forecast profit based 
on the draft outturn is £30,234 and is offset against the management fee costs. 

 
 

5.       Capital Programme  
 

5.1. This section of the report provides an update to members on the Council’s Capital 

Programme. 
 

5.2. The revised General Fund Capital Programme for 2021/22, as updated and 
approved in February, was set at £13,957,380  

 

5.3. The 2021/22 provisional outturn at March 2022 is summarised in the table below, 
with further detail provided at Annex A.  
 

Service   
2021/22   

Approved 
Budget  

Out- Turn 
2021/22 

Variance  

  £ £ £ 

Housing 10,000,000 10,000,000               -    
Housing Standards 1,523,200 1,131,016 (392,184) 
Property Services 508,660 442,639 (66,021) 
ICT 122,000 90,703 (31,297) 
Leisure Services 150,000 122,200 (27,800) 
Fleet Management  1,062,630 1,145,486 82,856 
CCTV 85,650 29,504 (56,146) 
Community  200,000                -    (200,000) 
Regeneration 53,520 19,485 (34,035) 
Horticulture 251,720 68,877 (182,843) 
Total 13,957,380 13,049,910 (907,470) 
Funding:-       
External  Contributions 1,519,940 1,138,516 (381,424) 
Capital Receipts 3,215,750 3,221,750 6,000 
Revenue  & Earmarked Reserves 2,385,650 2,415,153 29,503 
Borrowing 6,836,040 6,274,491 (561,549) 
Total 13,957,380 13,049,910 (907,470) 

Page 42



 
 

5.4. The Council incurred Capital Expenditure of £13,049,910 during the year against 

the revised budget of £13,957,380 representing an underspend of £907,470. This 
is made up of a number of variances which  reflects the impact of Capital 
Programme projects which are either behind schedule or have progressed quicker 

than expected with the most significant variance being: 

 

 Housing Standards (£392,184 underspend) Disabled Facilities grants 
completed in the final quarter were below  the revised forecast. Overall 
delivery of the grant programme  is below the annual Government support of  

£1.7m received against expenditure of £1.1m. The funding is ringfenced and 
therefore no adjustment of carry forward is required. An underspend of 

£21,200 against the Home Repairs grants budget will be carried forward . 
 

 Property Services (£66,021underspend) – A net saving of £37,736 on Asset 

Management Projects completed in the year; the balance  £28,285 will be 
carried forward   

 
  

 CCTV (£56,146 underspend) Replacement and upgrade of CCTV cameras 

has been delayed due to supplier issues; It is anticipated that the works will 
be finalised  prior to the Autumn . The necessary carry forward of budget will 

be made. 
 

 Fleet Management (£82,856 overspend) replacement of vehicles & plant was 
ahead of schedule at the year end. 
 

 Community-(£200,000 underspend) – budget allocated to support Forsbrook 
Community projects is being rolled forward   

 

 Horticulture – (£182,843 underspend) Brough Park improvements are on-

going, the  tennis courts were refurbished in year and  resurfacing of 
pathways is scheduled for 2022-23, the underspend will be carried forward  

 

5.5 Consequently, capital funding applied to the 2021/22 Capital programme is 
lower than  forecast, reflecting the incidence of timing of capital spend. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 43



 
 

 
 

 
5.6  As a result of the variances detailed above, approval is sought to increase the 

capital budgets for 2022/23 as shown in the table below:- 

 
  

Capital Programme 'Carry Forwards' (2021/22 to 2022/23) 

Service Variance  

Carry Forward  to 

2021/22 
Over/(Underspend)  

Over/(Underspend) 
Completed Projects 

  £ £ £ 

Housing Standards (392,184) (21,200) (370,984) 

Property Services (66,021) (28,285) (37,736) 
ICT (31,297) (28,048) (3,249) 

Fleet Management  82,856 82,856                                -    
CCTV (56,146) (56,146)                                -    

Regeneration (34,035) (34,035)                                -    
Community  (200,000) (200,000)                                -    

Horticulture (182,843) (182,843)                                -    

Leisure  (27,800) (27,800)                                -    

Total 
                    

(907,470)  
                    

(495,501)  
                    

(411,969)  

 
 

 
 

 
  

6. Treasury Management 

 
6.1. This section of the report sets out the key treasury management statistics in 

relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a high 
level treasury management summary.  The Audit and Accounts Committee 
receives detailed operational updates on treasury management. 

 

Investments 
 

6.2. Cash Investments held on the 31st March 2022 totalled £27.3million. Interest 
earned on investments during the year totalled £43,040 and the average level of 

funds available for investment was £21.4million. 
 

6.3. The Council budgeted to receive £20,710 in investment income in 2021/22. 

Interests rates improved in quarter 4 following the increases in the Bank of 
England base rate to 0.75% by March, resulting in a surplus of £22,330 against the 

budget. 
 

Page 44



Capital Loan (Service Investment – Housing) 
 

6.4. The Council had provided a £14million priority loan (from a £20million facility) and 
a £5million debenture capital investment to Ascent Housing LLP, a joint venture 

between the Council and Your Housing Group Limited providing affordable 
housing throughout the Staffordshire Moorlands. Interest was chargeable in the 
year on the loan at an average 2.88% and on the debenture at 1.88%. On 26th 

January 2022, the Ascent Housing LLP portfolio of properties was sold, and the 
Council’s membership transferred, to Your Housing Limited. Upon the sale, a 

Capital receipt of £17,144,500 was received (£14million relating to the priority loan; 
and £3,144,500 to the impaired debenture (losses shared equally between the 
Council and Your Housing Group Limited)).  

 
6.5. A new capital loan (service investment – housing) of £10million was made to Your 

Housing Limited on 4th February 2022, with a maturity term of 10 years. The 
purpose of the loan is to support the maintenance of and provision of affordable 
housing within the Staffordshire Moorlands District. Interest is chargeable at a fixed 

rate of 3.07% (including a 0.80% risk premium). 
 

6.6. Interest payments receivable by the Council from Ascent Housing LLP for the year 
were £341,193 for the loan and £79,781 for the Debenture; and from Your Housing 
Limited £47,101. The combined average interest rate return for the year was 

2.66%. The budget for the year was set at £522,880 anticipating a continuation of 
the existing loan value. The reduction to £10million compounded by falling interest 

rates resulted in an income shortfall of £54,805. 
 

     Borrowing 

 
6.7. External borrowing outstanding as at 31st March 2022 was £12.6million following 

the repayment of £7m of Local Authority loans during the year and new borrowing 
of £4.6m from the PWLB (Public Works Loan Board). 
 

6.8. The Council budgeted to incur £224,580 in net interest charges in 2021/22. This 
was based on externally funding the full Ascent loan balance of £14million and a 

£1million general fund borrowing requirement. The borrowing requirement reduced 
during the year due to the smaller than anticipated Capital Loan (Service 
Investment – Housing) value. Therefore the borrowing cost outturn for the year 

was £188,103 resulting in an underspend against the budget of £36,477. 
 

7. Revenue Collection 

 
7.1. This section of the report details the outturn in collecting the Council Tax, Business 

Rates and Sundry Debt. 
 

7.2. The collection rates for the year were as follows: 
 

 Council Tax – 98.46% of Council Tax was collected, compared to 98.17% for 

the same period last year and 98.55% the year before that. 
 

Page 45



 Business Rates – 99.01% of Business Rates was collected, compared to 
97.35% for the same period last year and 99.30% the year before that. 

 
7.3 At the end of Quarter Four the value of sundry debt that was over 60 days old 

was £15,962 which compares with £65,090 at 31st March 2021. 
  

Page 46



ANNEX A 
 

Capital Programme Update 31st March 2022 
 

 

Capital Schemes 
2021/22 

Approved 
Budget  

Out-Turn 
2021-22 

Variance  

C/fwd to 
2021/22 

Over/(Undersp
end)  

Over/(Unders
pend) 

Completed 
Projects 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing Strategy 
          

Other Housing  10,000,000  10,000,000                -                   -                   -    

Total Housing Strategy 10,000,000  10,000,000                 -                   -                   -    

Housing Standards           

Private Sector Grants 1,523,200   1,131,016  (392,184)       (21,200)      (370,984)  

Total Environmental Health   1,523,200    1,131,016      (392,184)        (21,200)      (370,984)  

Property Services           

Asset Management Plan  508,660     442,639  (66,021)       (28,285)        (37,736)  

 Total Property 508,660      442,639        (66,021)        (28,285)        (37,736)  

ICT 122,000 90,703 (31,297)       (28,048)          (3,249)  

 Total ICT      122,000         90,703        (31,297)        (28,048)          (3,249)  

Vehicle & Plant Purchase 1,062,630 

    

1,145,486  82,856         82,856                 -    
Fleet Management    1,062,630    1,145,486          82,856          82,856                 -    

CCTV - Upgrade  85,650 
        

29,504  (56,146)       (56,146)                 -    
CCTV        85,650         29,504        (56,146)        (56,146)                 -    

Regeneration           

Moorlands Partnership Grants  53,520 19,485       (34,035)        (34,035)                 -    
Total Regeneration        53,520         19,485        (34,035)        (34,035)                 -    

Community           

Forsbrook Community Facilities  200,000                -        (200,000)      (200,000)                 -    
Total Community       200,000                 -        (200,000)      (200,000)                 -    

Horticulture           

Brough Park Improvements 251,720        68,877      (182,843)      (182,843)                 -    
Total Horticulture      251,720         68,877      (182,843)      (182,843)                 -    

Leisure           

Sports Clubs Facilities  150,000      122,200        (27,800)        (27,800)                 -    

Total Horticulture      150,000       122,200        (27,800)        (27,800)                 -    

            

Total Programme 13,957,380 
  

13,049,910      (907,470)      (495,501)      (411,969)  

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

 
 

2021/22 
 

Fourth Quarter 
 Procurement  

Review 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency 
& Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which 

was agreed by Full Council in February 2017. 
 

1.2 The current Procurement Strategy was developed to ensure that its 
objectives linked closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and 
aims and objectives.  The key actions included, delivery of cashable 

savings, development of a professional Procurement unit, updated 
Procurement Rules to support transparency and the implementation of 

electronic tendering processes and procurement systems. 
 
1.3 The revised Procurement Strategy is scheduled for presentation and 

implementation following consultation with Members during 2021/22.   
The revised strategy will focus on the following key objectives to support 

the aims of the Council’s Corporate plan and align with the LGA National 
Procurement Strategy: 

 

 Delivering Value for Money 

 Commercial focus and effective Contract Management 

 Maintaining Transparency and Ethical practices through effective 

leadership 

 Promoting Responsible and Sustainable Procurement  

 Supporting the Local Economy and Business Growth 

 Delivering Social Value (CSR) through our Contracts 

 

1.4  The strategy was originally timetabled for decision and implementation 

in March  2022, however due to further review on the key priorities and 
outputs to align  with other relevant key strategies currently being 
developed and the incoming  changes to Public Sector Procurement 

Reforms, this has now been deferred until  the Autumn for approval and 
implementation.  Further consultation is planned  with local business 

forums to actively engage local small to medium  businesses to gain 
feedback on our key priorities. 
 

 
2. Fourth Quarter Completed Procurements 

2.1 The activity supported by the Council’s procurement team during the 
fourth quarter January 2022 to March 2022 is summarised below: 

Fourth Quarter   High Value 

(> £181,000) 

Low Value    

(< £181,000) 
Total 

SMDC Only 0 6 6 

JOINT (SM/HP) 0 6 6 

TOTAL   12 

Page 50



 

2.2 Annex A provides details of the 12 procurements exercises reviewed and 
completed during Quarter four. 

 
 
 

 
3.0  2022/23 Procurement Forward Plan 

 

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low 
or high value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for completion 

or starting in 2022/23. 

2022/23 Activity High Value 

(> 181,000k) 

 Low Value  

(< £181,000k) 
Total 

SMDC 

 

3 8 11 

JOINT (SM/HP) 2 7 9 

TOTAL   20 
 

In addition to the above, there are 54 exercises currently in progress and 

a further 148 listed entries brought forward from previous years (for review 
and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined).  

3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is 
scheduled for delivery in 2022/23 includes:- 

 Facilities Management (Joint venture delivery model) - completed 

 Cornhill West Industrial Units Project (Subject to Approval) 

 Consultancy and delivery projects :  Levelling up funding 
 
4. Procurement Performance 

4.1  This section reports on the Council performance in terms of 

procurement activity 
 

4.2  Performance for the fourth quarter is highlighted below:- 
 

Performance Indicator Target 
Performance at 

31st March 2022 

% of Alliance Procurement 
Activity on Forward Plan 

 

68% 52% 

Annual contract spend as % 
of gross expenditure budget 

 

94% 92% 

Supplier (Creditor) spend 
within the local area as a % 
of total spend 

 

Contextual 5.68% 

% of Contracts awarded to 
local suppliers following 

Contextual 20% 

Page 51



submission of EOI (over 
£5,000) 
 

  

  

 

 

 
ANNEX A 

Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed - SMDC 

Contract Title Brief contract 
description 

Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail  Term  
Duration 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £ 

Leek Market 
Replacement 
Tables 

Supply of 
replacement 
tables for Leek 

Market 

One Off Regeneration 
– Markets 

RFQ Ningbo 
Stockton 
Property 

Limited T/A 
Ningbo 

3 wks 
supply  

9,549 

Welcome Back 

Fund Cheadle 
Town Centre 
workshops and 

action plan 
consultant 

Consultancy 

Support 

One Off Regeneration RFQ Info Places Ltd 10 wks 4,200 

Mining Feature 
Survey of 

Wetley Moor 

Specialist external 
support 

Recurring Service 
Commissioning 

Single 
Source 

Wardell 
Armstrong 

12 wks 7,600 

SMDC Local 
Food Guide 
printing & 

distribution 

Printing and 
distribution of A4 
local food guide 

One Off Regeneration RFQ Buxton Press 
Ltd 

4-6 wks 15,940 

Welcome Back 
Fund Cheadle 
Heritage 

Interpretation 
Panels refresh 
 

As part of the 
Welcome Back 
Fund we are 

proposing to 
refresh and 
replace the 

heritage panels in 
Cheadle Town 
Centre 

 

One Off Regeneration RFQ Buxton Press 
Ltd 

4-6 wks 13,111 

Repair Vehicular 
access tracks at 
Wetley Moor 

Ground works 
 

One Off Service 
Commissioning 

RFQ County 
Ground 
Services 

4 wks 3,816 

 

  

Page 52



 

Fourth Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC) 

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail Term / 
Duration 

 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

Marshalls 
COVID-19 

Provision of Marshall 
resources for Env Health 

One Off Env Health Contract 
Extension 

Red Snapper 
Group 

12 wks 45,000 

Local Authority 
Trading 
Visioning 
Leisure 

Consultancy Appointment 
– future delivery model for 
Leisure services & 
Facilities 
 

One Off Service 
Commissioning 

Direct 
Award 

FMG Ltd 12 wks 9,600 

Planning 
Applications 
Service Support 

Interim Service support Recurring Development 
Control 

RFQ Pet Twigg 
£4,400 
Jane Newman 
£4,400 
Urban Imprint 
£4,464 

4-5 wks 13,264 

LUF 
Consultancy 

Consultant support for 
Levelling Up Project 
Development and Business 
Case submissions 
 

One Off Transformation Direct 
Award 
CCS 
Framework 

Mutual 
Ventures 

12 wks 119,613 

EV Charging 
Consultancy 
Support HPSM 

Specialist Consultancy 
services 

One Off Communities / 
Climate Change 

Direct 
Award 
SCC 
Framework 

AMEY 12- 16 
wks 

34,000 

Physical Activity 
& Sport Strategy 
Data Project 

Review of demographic 
and health data to help 
inform the physical activity 
and sport strategy refresh 
 

One Off Service 
Commissioning 

Single 
Source 

Press Red Ltd 3-4 wks 12,800 

 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Staffs Moorlands Performance & Customer Feedback Report: 2021/22 (Q4 Outturn) 

  

P
age 55



 

 

P
age 56



68%

27%

5%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Target Met Off Track N/A

42% 44%

14%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

Staffordshire Moorlands Q4 Summary  

The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at Staffs Moorlands for the period April 2021 to March 2022 in 

relation to the Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects. The report also provides an overview of 

the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of how we handle and learn from complaints and the level of comments and 

compliments.        

Performance Overview  

There are 62 targeted measures against which the council reports on at varying intervals throughout the year, the remaining measures in the 

council’s performance framework are considered contextual in nature and feature in the Annual Report. The charts below show the results for 

both attainment and trend data as at the end of 2021/2022; with 68% of targets met at the end of the year and 56% of measures maintaining 

or improving on their performance compared to last year. The actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ measures are detailed at the end 

of this report. 

The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the 2019-2023 Corporate 

Plan. The table below right explains the colour coding used to describe the current status of these projects / actions.  

Customer Feedback Overview  

There has been an increase in the number of complaints received compared to last year, although it remains low at just 61 stage one 

complaints for the year. There have been no repeat complaints but performance in handling complaints in 20 days narrowly missed its 97% 

target by just 1%. Further information about lessons learned is included in the report.    

 Off Track 

 In danger of going off Track 

 On Track 

 Not yet started / Decision 

awaited 

 Complete / Closed 

P
age 57



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Target Met Off Track

SM Aim 1: March Results 2021/22

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 1: March Trends 2021/22 

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Council narrowly missed the 7-day target for Benefits change of circs processing and is actively looking at process improvements. Settled 

accommodation outcomes for discharges under the prevention and relief homelessness duties, and households in temporary accommodation 

in excess of 6 weeks (no families) continue to reflect issues with housing supply, which is a national trend. Staffs Moorlands also implemented 

fewer of the community safety partnership actions than targeted, with the remainder rolled forward into this year.    

 

Celebrating Success:  

At the end of 2021/22, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets: 

✓ external funding awarded in support of physical activity 

✓ homelessness applications opened at the prevention and relief duty stages 

✓ processing and accuracy of benefit claims 

✓ housing register applicant wait times 

 

 

P
age 58



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Develop a strategy for further 
development of affordable and specialist 
housing 

 An Information Digest has been prepared to provide an update on delivery. 

Complete the review of the CCTV system 
and implement the agreed 
recommendations 

 A number of the cameras are up and running. 

Develop and implement an indoor leisure 
facilities improvement plan focused on 
improving the health and well- being of 
residents  

 Meetings with LATC's have been completed and will help shape/influence our future 
approach. A meeting with Assets colleagues has taken place to discuss findings of the two 
energy reports, and a further meeting with Parkwood is to take place to inform what the 
recommendations for investment might be. 

Develop and implement an outdoor 
leisure facilities improvement plan 
focused around the 'sports village' 
concept 

 Projects awarded funds via the Cabinet report approved on 8th February have been 
contacted with confirmation of funding awards. Payments are being processed.  

Refresh the Council’s Communication 
Strategy in order to ensure that there is a 
more effective dialogue with residents  

 Information digest being prepared  

Review the Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy in order to integrate 
communities and sports clubs into the 
delivery of its objectives 

 Individual project updates within the action: 
- Active Communities Plan - Draft documents received and will be completed and included 
with the refreshed strategy at the appropriate time 
- Refresh sports & physical activity strategy - two stakeholder engagement sessions have been 
delivered and stakeholder survey is currently live until end of May to capture wider and more 
detailed feedback which adds to that received during the engagement sessions. 

Implement the Covid-19 Community 
Recovery Plan 

 Meeting took place recently; report being pulled together to identify ongoing impact. 

Influencing actions 
Ensuring effective health provision 
particularly for the elderly 
 
 

The Council’s Health O&S Panel met on 9th February 2022. Items for consideration included:- 
• Kniveden and John Hall Gardens 
• Leek Integrated Care Hub (services and Board representation) 
 
 

P
age 59



The Panel also met on 17 March 2022 and received a presentation on the NHS’s approach to Climate 
Change. At the same meeting,  members discussed their concerns in relation to the West Midlands 
Ambulance, particularly around the amount of time patients waited for an ambulance to arrive. It was 
agreed that these concerns would be put in writing to the Chair of the Staffordshire County Council’s 
Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 60



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Target Met Off Track N/A

SM Aim 2 : March Results 2021/22

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 2 : March Trends 2021/22

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There are a number of areas where the Council has missed the target under aim 2: sickness absence, FOI responses, procurement activities 

and lost time / reportable accidents against a target of zero. Additional off track measures included complaint handling and the number of new 

twitter followers achieved.   

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of 2021/22, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets: 

✓ avoidable contact 

✓ IT systems and network availability 

✓ repeat complaints 

✓ Facebook followers 

✓ customer interactions and portal accounts 

✓ business unit occupancy 

✓ income collection and sundry debt levels 

✓ internal audit recommendations implemented 

 

P
age 61



 

2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Develop and implement a plan to 
identify new and innovative ways of 
generating income 
 

 Individual projects within the action:  
- Advertising/Sponsorship-On hold- to be picked up in 2022/23. 
- Fees & Charges- Normal MTFP cycle work on Fees and Charges to be supplemented by 
advance consideration associated with the income generation project 
- Trade Waste- Joint project with AES currently on hold 

 - Empty properties- Meeting scheduled with Capacity Grid at the end of May to look at the 
costs and options for reviewing empty properties during the summer of 2022.  Following 
this meeting will collate information and discuss options/costs/New Homes Bonus 

Refresh and implement the Asset 
Management Plan, including a 
review of public estate, and ensure 
adequate facilities management 
arrangements are in place 

 Individual project updates within the plan: 
- Asset Management Plan. Energy Audits completed. Stock Condition 99% completed. 
Strategy compilation will start post Norse Transfer in July. Resource to undertake this work 
is highlighted in new Assets structure. Requirement to recruit to new positions remains 
outstanding. 
- Capital program- Capital Programme started to 2022/23. Any projects that have not yet 
commenced will be transferred to Norse  and will start post transfer. Leek Market Halls - 
AHR Architects commissioned to undertake RIBA Phase 2 for LUF. 

Develop a Joint Venture company 
with Norse to deliver housing 
repairs and facilities management 

 Project is currently running on time and still expected to be completed on 4th July. Depot 
move has been scheduled for September. 

Develop an Access to Services 
Strategy to ensure that Council 
services are accessible to all 

 Action Plan completed. To be taken to the July meeting cycle. 

Implement the Council’s Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Programme 
(This will focus on several projects 
including procurement, income 
generation, trading, advertising, 
and sponsorship, etc.) 

 No new savings requirement at either Council in 2022/23 budget. Prior year savings 
shortfall at SMDC (currently standing at £147k) still to be finalised on outturn. Eventual 
shortfall to be delivered in 2022/23. Individual project updates within the action:  
- Refresh Efficiency & Rationalisation programme-New plan required to address inflation 
pressures and increased cost base. Work on developing new plan to commence after final 
accounts closedown 
- Hybrid mail-Baseline spend to be established in 22/23 following Hybrid Mail roll out and 
impact of post pandemic working arrangements. Budget in excess of baseline will be taken 
as legacy efficiency savings 

P
age 62



Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Develop a new Organisational 
Development Strategy to ensure  
effective workforce development 

 Strategy approved at the last committee cycle, action plan for all three strategies being 
prepared for the July meeting cycle. 

Develop a new procurement 
strategy with a focus on spending 
money locally 
 

 Pressures on the Procurement Service are high currently as a result of lots of off plan 
activity which is occurring as a result of a range of priority projects and funding availability. 
This is delaying progress on finalising the new strategy as efforts have to be directed 
elsewhere. We are hoping to be able to finalise the strategy to make the July committee 
cycle. 

Develop a new ICT strategy to 
enhance and support the delivery 
of services 

 Strategy approved at the last committee cycle. Action plan for all 3 Strategies being 
prepared for the July meeting cycle. 
Individual project updates within the strategy:  
- Civica Pay-  Phase 2 remains on hold .Go live will probably be t June possibly even 
July/August'. Further complicated by CivicaPay changing Payment Service Provider (PSP) 
from Mastercard to Opayo, requiring us to procure new MIDS and enter into a testing 
period for the new PSP. Project has been quoted £20k for a mandatory upgrade  

 - Meetings AV equipment- A specification has been produced for the upgrade of the PA 
system at both councils which will need to integrate with webcasting software to take 
advantage of automated camera control.  This problem also links to the update of meeting 
room projectors and webcasting systems.  The current webcasting supplier at SMDC 
(Public-I) can provide a solution for all of these elements.  

 - Collective- We are working directly with the ‘back office’ to make progress. Importance 
of aligned AES working practices (HP + SM) highlighted to the teams, and staff from the HP 
office has been assisting in the SM implementation where possible with knowledge 
transfer for back-office skills, e.g. round amends.   

Joint- Implement the Covid 19  
Reinstating Service  Plan 

 Meeting took place at the end of May; report being pulled together to identify ongoing 
impact. 

Joint- Implement the Covid-19 
Financial Recovery Plan 

Joint- Implement the Covid-19 
Positive Legacy Plan 
 

 

P
age 63



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Target Met Off Track

SM Aim 3: March Results 2021/22 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 3 : March Trends 2021/22 

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and 

villages   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Staffs Moorlands fell short of target in three areas under aim three: planning applications with pre-app discussions (due to a reduction in the 

proportion of large scale developments), agent satisfaction with the planning service (due to a large backlog in processing which is being 

addressed through additional capacity and a communications protocol), and planning enforcement cases resolved in 13 weeks (due to staffing 

issues for which a temporary enforcement post is being advertised).   

 

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of 2021/22, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets: 

✓ average town centre vacancy rates 

✓ major, minor and other planning applications processed in time 

✓ major and minor developments allowed on appeal 

✓ priority 1 planning enforcement cases visited within 24 hours 

 

P
age 64



 

2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Support the development of Cornhill 
and improved rail links 
 

 -Cornhill East & West. Planning has been approved, highlight report being produced 
- Rail Projects - Highlight report to be produced 

Influencing Action - Support the 
Churnet Valley Railway with their 
plans to bring trains back to Leek 

Support the development of the 
former Churnet Works site, Leek 

 No update. To be reviewed. 

Develop and implement plans to 
extend the public market operations  

 Leek market hall improvements part of package bid within LUF submission. Architects 
commissioned to expand the scope of improvements to include the Buttermarket and exterior 
in addition to new lock up food and beverage units in the Trestle market and improved trading 
facilities. Cheadle Market Hall owner passed away; the estate is in probate   

Develop a master plan for bringing 
redundant mills back into use 

 Report to cabinet 29/6/2021 agreed that a full masterplan was not yet required and gave 
approval for the below commercial market assessment: 
- Leek Mills Commercial Demand Assessment-A revised executive summary has been received 
for comment,  once the executive summary and stage 1 report are complete, the next stage 
will be to prepare a report for cabinet to review findings and discuss recommendations. LSH 
can present. 

Implement the Council’s growth 
strategy to bring about the 
regeneration of towns and rural 
communities 

 Staffs Moorlands: 
- Biddulph Wharf Rd masterplan- Budget proposal included within AHDP  Cabinet report 
scheduled for March/April cabinet. Linked to 6.9.1, 6.9.2.  
- Investment & Acquisition strategy :   
- Tunstall Road - Cabinet report 29th March approved a budget for implementation of an 
SMDC Housing Delivery Programme. This includes a budget to commission consultants to work 
with the landowners (six) to negotiate appropriate agreements to work together to bring the 
site forward, including land equalisation proposals, as necessary.  
- Blythe Vale- This project is led by Staffordshire County Council.  SCC have appointed Barton 
Willmore (now Stantec) to undertake the work.  Baseline information collection is underway.  
Next project meeting due to be held 26.05.22 

Influencing Action- SM-Expand the 

Growth Deal Partnership to 

provide inward investment 

P
age 65



 - Cheadle town centre masterplan : 
• The second Cheadle community newsletter was delivered to households during w/c 
18th April. 
• The Town Centre Delivery Board will assist the Council to take forward priority actions 
in Cheadle. 
• A project group is to be established to consider issues around a potential acquisition of 
the Cheadle market and adjoining marketplace, following the report to Cabinet of 7th 
December 2021. 
Budget:  
The SMDC Housing Delivery Programme was approved by Cabinet on 29th March 2022 and 
includes budget provision of £10,000 to commission market demand assessments for council 
owned assets to explore housing development opportunities. 

Develop a Tourism Strategy to 
maximise the positive impact to our 
communities 

 On track and underway 

Joint – Implement the Covid-19 
Economic Recovery Plan 

 Meeting took place at the end of May; report being pulled together to identify ongoing impact. 

Influencing Actions                
Improve access and traffic flows to 
our town centre 

Continued liaison with Development Services and SCC regarding new development sites & key projects 
including Cheadle Town Centre masterplan and Blythe Vale. CRF bid submitted for development of Blythe 
Vale  'Long list' of projects identified as part of Green Infrastructure plan now being taken forward with 
partners. Awaiting outcome of bid submitted to the Department of Transport’s ‘Restoring Your Railway - 
Ideas Fund’ for a feasibility study for a Stoke-Leek Railway. Development Control officers continue to  
consult with highways on new schemes and S106 contributions towards town centre improvements are 
sought where appropriate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 66



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Target Met Off Track

SM Aim 4: March Results 2021/22

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 4 : March Trends 2021/22

 

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Council is off track at year end for estimated recycling rates, with tonnages well down on last year. However, confirmed returns are still 

awaited for this PI from partners. At Staffs Moorlands the reduced food premises visits at the start of the year, due to covid restrictions, has 

led to the ‘broadly compliant’ target being narrowly missed.   

 

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of 2021/22, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets: 

✓ residual household waste levels 

✓ paper consumption  

✓ regulatory inspections 

✓ missed bins 

✓ community clean-ups 

✓ street cleanliness  

P
age 67



 

2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions  Status Commentary 
Identify and implement an approach 
to reduce the cost of country parks 

 POS disposal consultation is now underway and is due to be completed by early June. A 
positive meeting was held on 6th May with officers from SWT and SMDC and Biddulph 
Town Council representatives to discuss Biddulph Grange Country park, agreement was 
reached as to how their concerns will be addressed. Target date for transfer is now 1st 
July. 

Develop a plan to improve Brough 
Park and John Hall Gardens 
 

 Individual projects within the action: 
- Play Strategy :  Strategy due to be reviewed by Service Delivery Panel on 25th May 
- Brough Park improvement Plan : Initial meeting held with Rethink regarding the 
previous scope of work agreed for John Hall Gardens. There is a suggestion Rethink may 
like this revised and so a meeting to discuss this involving leisure, assets and Rethink is 
set to be arranged to discuss/agree the way forwards. 

 - Tean Road, Cheadle Improvement Plan :  No update, still pending CTC decisions. 

Publish part 2 of the Climate Change 
Action Plan and commence delivery 
of the priorities contained within 
Parts 1 and 2. 

 Green Infrastructure: Conversations are taking place with the Wildlife Trust about 
introducing Plans for Nature (aka biodiversity strategies). SWT are due to submit a 
proposal by the end of May. This proposal will (hopefully) be designed in a  way that 
allows us to take forward the GI Strategy. 

Review the Council's waste and 
recycling arrangements to increase 
recycling and to respond to the 
emerging national strategy 

 We are still awaiting feedback from all of summer 2021's consultations. It is likely that 
this will not occur until after the May elections. 

Influencing Action- Provide waste 
and recycling centres across the 
district 

Review the Environmental 
Enforcement Policy in order to take 
steps to further reduce 
environmental crime 

 Staffs Moorlands still to be produced (September Cycle) 

Develop a new Parking Strategy to 
ensure that our car parks meet the 
needs of residents and visitors 

 Individual project updates within the strategy: 
-Parking strategy - Car Parking Action Plan discussed with new portfolio holder to look at 
priorities. Resource starting in July. Until then, tariff increases and Pay by Phone set for 

P
age 68



Priority Actions  Status Commentary 
Influencing Action - The provision of 
accessible on street parking 

end of  June. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 69



 

 

P
age 70



 

 

P
age 71



  

Areas for Improvement: March 2022  

Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead 
Target 

2021/22 

Result 
March 
2022 

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

Staffordshire Moorlands 

Housing Benefits 

Processing: Time taken to 

process change of 

circumstances 

Aim 1: Increased supply of 
good quality affordable 

homes  

Head of Revenues & 
Benefits 

7 days 7.76 days We have now finished the Self Isolation payment 

scheme and will be reviewing our performance 

work processes and looking at ways to make 

improvements 

% of prevention duty 

discharges resulting in a 

settled accommodation 

outcome 

Head of Housing 
Services 

64% 60% Current slow turnover of stock and reduced 

availability/high cost of private rentals is 

impacting this. This is a national trend 

% of relief duty discharges 

resulting in a settled 

accommodation outcome 

62% 50% 

Number of TA placements 

(including B&B made for 

families) placed over 6 

weeks 

 5 11 (0) Move on options are limited by the current slow 

turnover of stock and reduced availability/high 

cost of private rentals is impacting this. This is a 

national trend 

Delivery of the Community 

Safety Partnership Plan: % 

actions delivered to 

timescale 

Aim 1: Effective support 
of community safety 

arrangements including 
CCTV 

Head of 
Communities & 
Climate Change 

100% 66% Remaining projects carried forward into 2022/23 

FOI requests: % responded 

to within statutory time 

frame (include numbers in 

commentary) 

Aim 2: Ensure our services 
are easily available to all 

our residents  

Head of Legal and 
Elections 

95% 65% 

(371/571) 

Response times have been affected by the impact 

of the pandemic on service area resources  

P
age 72



Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead 
Target 

2021/22 

Result 
March 
2022 

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

Complaint handling: % dealt 

with within 20 working days 

(20 days from 09/11/20 was 

previously 10 days) 

Head of Customer 
Services 

97% 96% Of the 75 complaints (stages 1 and 2) received 3 

were responded to outside the agreed response 

times. 

Number of twitter followers Head of OD & 
Transformation 

Increase by 
240 (2297) 

2493 Although we have missed target, there has still 

been  an increase of 196 followers. 

Use of Contracts Register- 

annual contract spend as% 

of gross expenditure budget 

Aim 2: Effective 
procurement with a focus 

on local business 

Head of Service 
Commissioning 

2% 
improvement 

to 20/21 
(91.92%) 

92% The recent variables in the external market 

environment have impacted the Alliance’s supply 

chain contracted arrangements in certain areas, 

where there has been a need to buy off contract 

where suppliers have been unable to meet 

delivery timescales and budgets, due to 

limitations beyond their control. Procurement will 

continue to work with Services to future proof 

options for supply arrangements going forward 

over the next 12 months. 

% of planning applications 

with pre-application 

enquiries 

Aim 3: High quality 
development and building 
control with an open for 

business approach 

Head of 
Development 

Services 

10% 6.79% As a result of COVID lockdowns we have seen a 

reduction in larger scale and commercial 

applications and an increase in householder and 

minor applications. The latter tend not to attract 

paid pre-app discussions as there are other 

means for householders to obtain advice 

including the free planning surgeries.  

P
age 73



Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead 
Target 

2021/22 

Result 
March 
2022 

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

Agent satisfaction with the 

Planning Service 

80% 56% As a result of lockdowns, increased application 

numbers, and ongoing staffing issues we have 

built up a significant backlog of applications. This 

is impacting on time taken to determine 

applications and respond to agent queries / 

amended plans etc. We plan to address this 

through recruitment, use of consultancy to 

reduce backlog and a new communications 

protocol 

% of planning enforcement 

cases resolved in 13 weeks 

 80% 66% Failure to meet the target has been principally 

due to staffing issues arising from 2 instances of 

long-term sick leave and another officer being 

seconded to the planning applications teams. 

Temporary enforcement post being advertised 

% of household waste sent 

for reuse, recycling and 

composting 

Aim 4: Effective recycling 
and waste management 

Head of Service 
Commissioning 

57.5% 53.95% Results are estimated as full data is not yet 

received from AES nor SCC for Q4. Recycling and 

organic waste tonnages collected in 2021-22 are 

much lower than in 20-21, recycling tonnage 

collected between April and February were 500 

tonnes lower and organic waste tonnages were 

820t lower than in 2020-21.  

% of food premises 

compliant with the Food 

Standards Agency criteria ( 

plus numbers as context) 

Aim 4: Provision of high-
quality public amenities, 

clean streets and 
environmental health 

 

Head of 
Environmental 

Services 

98% 97.3% Visits have been restricted due to Covid which has 

affected the % compliant. We would have 

expected the result  to even out as further visits 

were made 

Joint Alliance Measures 

P
age 74



Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead 
Target 

2021/22 

Result 
March 
2022 

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

Ave days sickness per FTE 

(Alliance measure) (include 

short and long-term 

absence per FTE) 

Aim 2: Invest in our staff 
to ensure we have the 
internal expertise to 
deliver our plans by 
supporting our high 

performing and well- 
motivated workforce 

Head of OD and 
Transformation 

6 days 8.67 days Ave days sickness per FTE short term: 2.75 days, 

long term: 5.92 days. There have been 1776 FTE 

days lost to sickness this year of which 1253 were 

due to long term illness. Ongoing cases are being 

managed in line with the Alliance sickness 

procedure. 

Number of  RIDDOR 

reportable / Lost Time 

(7days) accidents  (Joint 

Alliance measure) 

Corporate Health & 
Safety 

0 3 LTA: Traffic accident caused by underlying 

medical condition. As this was medically related 

and the individual wasn’t injured this is not 

reportable.                                                

Riddor 1- due to incorrect footwear- emails sent 

reminding the need to wear suitable footwear, 

risk assessment reviewed and re-issued.       

Riddor 2- Post accident investigation carried out, 

no specific cause highlighted. 

% of Procurement activity 

on forward plan (Joint 

Alliance measure) 

Aim 2: Effective 
procurement with a focus 

on local business 

Head of Service 
Commissioning 

68% 52% Higher proportion of exemption applications due 

to increasing reactive workstreams over the last 

year. Procurement will be revisiting our future 

planning strategy to enable more effective 

communications between services to ensure we 

are kept updated to fully support the services 

businesses needs going forward. 

 

 

  

 For a full list of all performance measures and the Q4 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this link.  

 

P
age 75

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/staffs_moorlands_performance_indicator_database_march.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	8.1 Forward Plan
	9.1 SMDC Refreshed Environment Enforcement Policy
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	10.1 Fourth Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2021/22
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C


